
Meeting papers

Pension Committee

Friday 8 February 2019 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester





    

Pension Committee

Friday 8 February 2019 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES Andrea Griffiths

2  MINUTES - (Pages 1 - 6)

To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 9th 
November 2018.

Andrea Griffiths

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST - 

Members of the Committee are invited to declare any financial or 
pecuniary interest related to specific matters on the agenda.

Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda.

Andrea Griffiths

4  PUBLIC QUESTIONS - 

To answer any written questions about matters that are within the powers 
and duties of the Committee. The closing date/time for the receipt of 
questions is 10.00am on 1st February 2019.

To answer any oral question(s) put by members of the public.

Depending on the nature of the oral questions asked it may not be 
possible to provide a comprehensive answer at the meeting, in which case 
a written answer will be supplied as soon as reasonably possible after the 
meeting.

Andrea Griffiths

5  MEMBERS' QUESTIONS - 

To answer any written members’ questions. The closing date/time for the 
receipt of questions is 10.00am on 1st February 2019.

Andrea Griffiths

6  PENSION FUND RISK REGISTER (Pages 7 - 16)

The Committee is asked to note the report. 

Mark Spilsbury



    

7  AWARD OF ACTUARIAL CONTRACT (Pages 17 - 22)

The Committee is asked to note the report.

Mark Spilsbury

8  CONSULTATION ON STATUTORY GUIDANCE ON ASSET POOLING 
IN THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT PENSION SCHEME (Pages 23 - 34)

That the Committee consider whether there are any points that it 
wishes to feedback on the draft statutory guidance on asset pooling.

Mark Spilsbury

9  MARKET VALUATIONS AND QUARTERLY PERFORMANCE REVIEW 
OF THE PENSION FUND: QUARTER 4 (Pages 35 - 50)

The Committee is asked to note the report.

Mark Spilsbury

10  EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

Resolved

 That in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 the public be excluded from the meeting 
for the following agenda items, because it is likely that if 
members of the public were present there would be disclosure 
to them of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 
1 of Schedule 12 A to the Act and the public interest in 
withholding the information outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information to the public.

Cllr Ray 
Theodoulou

11  EXEMPT MINUTES (Pages 51 - 66)

To approve as a correct record the exempt minutes of the meetings 
held on 9th November 2018.

Andrea Griffiths

12  REPORT FROM THE INDEPENDENT ADVISOR TO THE FUND (Pages 
67 - 78)

The Committee is asked to note the report.

John Arthur

13  ADMISSION BODY REQUESTS (Pages 79 - 80)

The Committee is asked to approve the recommendation. 

Mark Spilsbury

14  EMPLOYERS UPDATE (Pages 81 - 88)

The Committee is asked to note the report.

Mark Spilsbury

15  BRUNEL PENSION PARTNERSHIP UPDATE REPORT (Pages 89 - 110)

The Committee is asked to note the report.

Membership –  Cllr Colin Hay, Cllr Shaun Parsons, Cllr Rachel Smith, Cllr Lynden Stowe, 
Cllr Ray Theodoulou, Cllr David Brown and Cllr Nigel Moor

Added Members - Peter Clark

Co-Opted Member - Cllr Nigel Cooper



    

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer 
(Jane Burns 01452 328472 /fax: 425149/ e-mail: Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) 
prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact:
Andrea Griffiths, Democratic Services Officer (Scrutiny Team)
:01452 324206 /fax: 425850/e-mail: andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is permitted subject 
to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please contact Democratic Services (tel 
01452 425230) to make the necessary arrangements ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of 
the public and do not wish to be photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services 
Officer on duty at the meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

PENSION COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Pension Committee held on Friday 9 November 2018 
commencing at 10.00 am.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Colin Hay
Cllr Ray Theodoulou
Cllr David Brown

Cllr Lynden Stowe
Cllr Nigel Cooper
Peter Clark

Apologies: Cllr Brian Oosthuysen & Cllr Shaun Parsons

In Attendance: Cllr Nigel Moor, Jo Walker, Mark Spilsbury, Alex Bull, John Arthur 
(Independent Advisor) & Andrea Griffiths.

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST - 

Councillor Theodoulou & Stowe declared they were members of Cotswold District 
Council.  

2. PUBLIC QUESTIONS - 

No public questions were received.

3. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS - 

No Members’ questions were received.  

4. MINUTES - 

The public minutes of the meeting held on the 7th September 2018 were approved 
as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.  

Resolved

That the public minutes of the meeting held on the 7th September 2018 be 
approved as a correct record.  

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

5. PENSION FUND RISK REGISTER 

Mark Spilsbury, Head of Pensions introduced the risk register explaining that it had 
been reviewed in September 2018.  It was noted that the risk register was a live 
document and therefore it was important for it to reflect the discussion carried out 
by the committee. 

Following feedback from the pension board an additional risk had been included on 
the risk register.  Members were informed that since the risk register was last 
considered by the Committee, the following changes had been made:

- F8: New Risk Description: Employers without a guarantor fail financially 
leaving a deficit with the Fund.

Previous Description: Orphaned employers give rise to added costs for the 
Fund

- F9: New Risk (requested by Pension Board): Financial loss experienced 
during the transitioning of Assets to the new Brunel Portfolio's.  

Period Comments:  £510m has been transitioned to the BPP passive 
portfolios and a full reconciliation has confirmed that all assets transitioned 
as expected.

During the discussion, it was suggested that the risk in relation to the under 
resourcing of administrative staff should be included on the risk register.  Officers 
explained that staffing had been increased, however the Committee agreed it was a 
valid risk and should be included on the risk register. (Action MS) 

Resolved 

That the committee noted the Risk Register, subject to the inclusion of the 
agreed amendments.   

6. PENSION ADMINISTRATION PERFORMANCE 

Mark Spilsbury, Head of the Pension Fund, gave a detailed presentation of the 
Pension Administration Performance.  

In response to a question, it was noted that four new members of staff had been 
recruited with the agreement of the Pension Committee to administer the fund, 
which had contributed to the increased performance.  The Head of the Pension 
Fund explained that it took time to train staff and naturally this had impacted on 
performance targets.  

It was noted that in terms of death grants this usually occurred within 8 days after 
the receipt of the legal paperwork.  However, the team would ensure the funds were 
paid to the right person, regardless of the time factor. In response to a question, it 
was explained that, on occasion some people attempted to claim a death grant to 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

which they were not entitled too.  The Committee were advised that it took a lot of 
resources to clarify the situation to ensure that death grants are always paid to the 
correct person(s)..   

During the discussion, members referred to the national fraud initiative for those 
people who were still claiming a pension, when the pensioner had passed away.  It 
was explained that, where actions were felt to be fraudulent, the matter woukld be 
referred to the Police.  A member suggested that perhaps the anti-fraud unit could 
become involved in this area.  Officers agreed to seek advice and clarify the 
position.  (Action – MS) 

The Committee were pleased to note the improving performance and remarked on 
the positive efforts made by the team.  The Head of the Pension Fund explained 
there was further work required, in order to achieve all of the six targets in 2019/20.  

Members requested to know what the shortest and longest timeframe was in 
relation to “Transfers Out” paid, officers agreed to clarify the position for all KPI’s in 
future reports.. (Action – MS)

Resolved 

That the report be noted.  

7. PENSION BOARD MINUTES 

Councillor Moor presented the update.  He informed the Committee that the Board 
were pleased with the important level of scrutiny conducted by the Committee.  

In response to a question, members requested to know if the Chair of Pension 
Board (Sean Collins) would like to present the Pension Board Annual Report to full 
council.  Officers agreed to liaise with the Chair of the Pension Board.  (Action MS)

Resolved 

That the draft minutes be noted.   

8. PENSION FUND INVESTMENT PERFORMANCE

Alex Bull, Finance Manager presented the report in detail.  Members were advised 
that Blackrock Emerging Markets and Blackrock Global Equity had provided 18.5% 
and 20.3% annualised returns over the 3 years to 30 September 2018. 

In response to a question, members were informed that the main legal & General 
mandate that the Fund is investing in is a Developed Equities Mandate (i.e. 
excludes Emerging Markets).  The Committee requested that in future the class of 
equity be included within the report.  (Action – AB)

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

In response to a question, it was noted that WAMCO ran two mandates for the 
Gloucestershire LGPS, these being global fixed interest and global multi sector 
credit.  The Independent Advisor explained that yields on UK Government Bonds 
were low, as inflation had been falling, therefore the portfolio was only going to 
generate a low return.  

Resolved

That the report be noted.

9. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

It was resolved 

That in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following agenda items, 
because it is likely that if members of the public were present there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 & 5 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12 A to the Act and the public interest in withholding the 
information outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information to the 
public.

10. INDEPENDENT ADVISOR REPORT

Independent Advisor, John Arthur, provided members with an update on current 
investments.  It was reported that the Pension Fund underperformed against its 
performance target in Q3 2018.  The level of underperformance was within risk 
tolerances, it was reported that the fund was close to achieving its performance 
target over the medium and longer term.  The Committee were referred to the 
detailed Performance and Executive Summaries contained within the report.    

Resolved 

That the report be noted.  

11. EXEMPT MINUTES 

The exempt minutes of the meeting held on the 7th September 2018 were 
approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.  

Resolved

That the exempt minutes of the meeting held on the 7th September 2018 be 
approved as a correct record.

12. EXEMPT PENSION BOARD MINUTES 
  
Resolved 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

That the exempt minutes be received.     

13. ADMISSION BODY REQUESTS

The committee received a report from the Director of Strategic Finance. 

Resolved 

That the Committee approved the Officer’s recommendation.  

14. PROPOSED CHANGE TO FIXED INTEREST MANDATE 

The Independent Advisor, John Arthur presented the report in detail.  During the 
discussion it was agreed that a delegated decision could be made by Officers in 
consultation with the Chairperson and the independent Advisor.  (Action MS)

Resolved

That the report be noted.

15. BRUNEL PENSION PARTNERSHIP – PASSIVE MANDATES TRANSITION 
REPORT  

Mark Mansley (Chief Investment Officer) and Chris Crozier (Client Relationship 
Officer), BPP gave a detailed presentation to the committee.  

The purpose of the report was to inform the Committee of the outcome of the 
passive transition and the cost allocations to individual funds within the BPP.  

Resolved 

That the report be received.  

16. BRUNEL PENSION PARTNERSHIP - UK EQUTIES AND LOW VOLATILITY 
EQUITIES MANAGER SELECTION REPORT 

Mark Mansley and Chris Crozier, BPP presented the report to the committee.    It 
was explained that a full and thorough search for managers for BPP UK Equity 
portfolio had been undertaken and three managers had been appointed.  The 
Committee discussed and questioned the BPP officers  on the manager 
appointments.     

Resolved 

That the report be noted

17. BRUNEL PENSION PARTNERSHIP BUSINESS PLAN 2019/20

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

Mark Spilsbury, Head of the Pension Fund presented the report in detail.  The 
Committee were advised that the Business Plan had already been discussed and 
was fully supported by Brunel Oversight Board (BOB) and the Client Group.  

Resolved

That the Committee supported the draft Business Plan and Budget proposal 
for 2019/20.  

17. ANY OTHER BUSINESS 

The Committee was advised that the actuary was due to attend to the next meeting 
of Pension Committee, however as the procurement process was underway it was 
not appropriate for them to attend, therefore the Committee agreed to cancel the 
meeting scheduled for the 7th December 2018.  (Action – AG) 

The Chair wished to extend his thanks to the Director of Strategic Finance for all 
her hard work, effort and support.  He congratulated her on behalf of the Pension 
Committee in her new role and wished her every success.   

CHAIRMAN

Meeting concluded at 13:45pm

Page 6



Pension Committee
8th February 2019

Review of the
Pension Fund Risk Register 

Report of the Strategic Finance Director

The attached Risk Register reflects the risks relating to the Pension Fund and 
indicates the significance of each risk.

As per previous reports the significance of individual risks is measured by a 
scoring system which multiplies the likelihood of the occurrence with the 
potential impact of such an occurrence. Both “likelihood” and “impact” are 
scored 1 – 5 and after multiplying both numbers together, the higher the 
product, the higher the risk.

Risk Score Range Risk Category
1 to 6 Low
7 to 12 Medium
13 to 25 High

The attached Risk Register shows each risk, scored before and after controls 
are in place (i.e. the inherent and residual risks).

The risks are referenced as follows:

Financial Risks (F)
Funding / Demography Risks (F/D)
Administration / Regulatory Risks (A/R)
Governance Risks (G)

Since the risk register was last considered by the Pension Committee in 
November 2018 a new risk A/R 1.2 has been added in relation to the 
resourcing of the Pension Administration Team, as requested at the last 
meeting of the Pension Committee.

A number of other changes have also been made in relation to risks F1, F4, 
F5, F8, F9, A/R5 and G6. All of the changes made in relation to these risks 
are highlighted in yellow in the updated risk register.

Recommendation

That the Committee notes the risk register.

Contact Officer

Mark Spilsbury - Head of Pension Fund (01452 328920)

Page 7

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

PENSION FUND RISK REGISTER UPDATED IN JANUARY 2019 FOR CONSIDERATION BY THE PENSION COMMITTEE IN FEBRUARY 2019

L/V I/B R L/V I/B R

F1
Fund assets fail to deliver returns in line with the 
anticipated returns underpinning valuation of 
liabilities over the long-term

The achievement of fully funded 
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 4 16

Only anticipate long-term return on a 
relatively prudent basis to reduce risk of 
under-performing.
Assets invested on the basis of specialist 
advice, in a suitably diversified manner 
across asset classes, geographies, 
managers, etc.
Analyse progress at three yearly 
valuations for all employers.  
Inter-valuation roll-forward of liabilities 
between valuations at whole Fund level.   
Actuarial Review on a like for like basis 
has confirmed a strong deficit recovery 
plan.

3 4 12 ▲ Financial

Due to increased uncertainty regarding 
BREXIT and other political risks and 
possible negative long term implications, 
this risk is continually monitored to 
determine whether the  likelihood of this 
risk materialising needs to be increased. 
Following the Brexit vote on 15th January 
2019, and in the context of the significant 
reduction in the value of the Funds assets 
during quarter 4 in 2018, the residual risk 
likelihood has now been increased from a 
2 to a 3.

16/01/2019

F2 Inappropriate long-term investment strategy. The achievement of fully funded 
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 4 16

Regular monitoring of Fund's cash flow 
with actuarial estimates of future cash 
flow position.                               Overall 
investment strategy options including 
diversification considered as an integral 
part of the funding strategy.  Use of asset 
liability modelling.   Actuarial Review on a 
like for like basis has confirmed a strong 
deficit recovery plan.

2 4 8 ► Financial

Phased movement to new allocation is 
being undertaken in the context of reducing 

exposure to equities whilst maintaining 
adequate returns and minimising new 

transition costs before the transition into 
the Brunel Pension Partnership. A slightly 
amended asset allocation to the various 
investment portfolio's available under the 

BPP was agreed by the Pension 
Committee at it'sFebruary 18 meeting.

16/01/2019

F3 Fall in risk-free returns on Government bonds, 
leading to rise in value placed on liabilities.

The achievement of fully funded 
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Stabilisation modelling at whole Fund 
level allows for the probability of this 
within a longer term context.  
Inter-valuation monitoring, as above.
Some investment in bonds helps to 
mitigate this risk.   Actuarial Review on a 
like for like basis has confirmed a strong 
deficit recovery plan.

3 3 9 ► Financial

Falling Govt Bond yields is reducing the 
discount rate (the level of expected 
investment returns) which increases the 
value placed on past service liabilities, 
which was why the Residual Risk likelihood 
score was increased to a 3 in November 
2018.

16/01/2019

F4 Increasing Pension Fund deficit The achievement of fully funded 
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Actuarial review via Triennial Valuation 
and regular update reports.
Regular consideration by Pension 
Committee on manager performance 
relative to funding assumptions, funding 
position and funding strategy.  Actuarial 
Review on a like for like basis has 
confirmed a strong deficit recovery plan.

3 3 9 ► Financial

Funding deficit reduced at 2016 Fund 
Valuation and performance over the last 3 
year period exceed the anticipated returns 
used as part of the 2016 valuation.

16/01/2019

F5 Active investment manager under-performance 
relative to benchmark.

Maximising investment returns to help 
the Fund achieve its funding target

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Quarterly investment monitoring analyses 
market performance and active managers 
relative to their index benchmark.  
Diversification of investments across 
asset classes and across different fund 
managers

3 3 9 ▲ Financial

Performance in the current portfolio's and 
in the new BPP portfolio's will be monitored 
against agreed performance targets and 
will be reported back to the Committee on 
a quarterly basis. However in the context of 
the performance in quarter 4 of 2018 the 
likelihood of this risk has been increased 
from a 2 to a 3.

16/01/2019

Period Comments / Additional Actions

All risks are 
monitored on an 
on-going basis. 

Date of last 
review.

Inherent Risk 
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk 
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Ref Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or 
Consequences  if risk occurs and 
related objectives Owner

Category of Risk 
or Opportunity

1e

P
age 9



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

L/V I/B R L/V I/B R Period Comments / Additional Actions

All risks are 
monitored on an 
on-going basis. 

Date of last 
review.

Inherent Risk 
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk 
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Ref Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or 
Consequences  if risk occurs and 
related objectives Owner

Category of Risk 
or Opportunity

F6 Pay and price inflation significantly more than 
anticipated.

The achievement of fully funded 
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 2 8

The focus of the actuarial valuation 
process is on real returns on assets, net 
of price and pay increases. 
Inter-valuation monitoring, as above, 
gives early warning. 
Some investment in index-linked bonds 
also helps to mitigate this risk.  
Employers pay for their own salary 
awards and should be mindful of the 
geared effect on pension liabilities of any 
bias in pensionable pay rises towards 
longer-serving employees.  

3 2 6 ► Financial 16/01/2019

F7 Unexpected increase in employer’s contribution 
rate 

To stabilise changes in employer 
contribution rates over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

An explicit stabilisation mechanism has 
been agreed for eligible employers as part 
of the funding strategy.  Other measures 
are also in place to limit sudden increases 
in contributions.
Obtain information on financial strength of 
individual employers. Discuss with 
employers their ability to absorb rises in 
their level of contribution.
Where appropriate mitigate impact 
through deficit spreading and phasing in 
of contribution rises, with appropriate 
security from employers and further 
analysis by the Fund’s actuary.

2 3 6 ► Financial 16/01/2019

F8 Employers without a guarantor fail financially 
leaving a deficit with the Fund.

To ensure individual employers in the 
Fund are responsible for their own 
costs 

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

The Fund seeks a cessation debt (or 
security/guarantor) to minimise the risk of 
this happening in the future. At risk 
employers are identified and are engaged 
in discussions over remedial actions in 
advance of retirement of all active 
members. 
If it occurs, the Actuary calculates the 
added cost spread pro-rata among all 
employers 

2 3 6 ► Financial

Two high risk employers without 
guarantors will be leaving the fund 
between March 2018 and January 2019. 
One of these has repaid it's cessation 
deficit of around £6m in full. The cessation 
deficit for the other employer (who left in 
January 2019) is currently being 
calculated. Once paid the scores relating 
to this risk will be reviewed again.

16/01/2019

F9 Financial loss experienced during the transitioning 
of Assets to the new Brunel Portfolio's

Maximising investment returns to help 
the Fund achieve its funding target

Head of Pension 
Fund 3 5 15

Detailed reconciliation of assets 
transferred undertaken by the Finance 
and Investments Manager. Detailed report 
from transition experts commissioned by 
the Brunel PP will be produced following 
each transition to provide assurance to 
clients.

2 4 8 New Financial

£510m has been transitioned to the BPP 
passive portfolio's and £345m to the BPP 
UK Equities active portfolio and a 
reconciliation has confirmed that all assets 
transitioned as expected.

16/01/2019

P
age 10



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

L/V I/B R L/V I/B R Period Comments / Additional Actions

All risks are 
monitored on an 
on-going basis. 

Date of last 
review.

Inherent Risk 
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk 
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Ref Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or 
Consequences  if risk occurs and 
related objectives Owner

Category of Risk 
or Opportunity

F/D1 Pensioners living longer, thus increasing cost to 
Fund.

The achievement of fully funded 
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 5 2 10

Set mortality assumptions with some 
allowance for future increases in life 
expectancy.
The Fund Actuary has direct access to 
the experience of over 50 LGPS funds 
which allows early identification of 
changes in life expectancy that might in 
turn affect the assumptions underpinning 
the valuation.
The Fund also sets life expectancy 
assumptions using ClubVita, which is a 
specialised longevity company and 
provides life expectancy assumptions 
based on the profile of the Fund’s own 
membership.
Administering Authority encourage any 
employers concerned at costs to promote 
later retirement culture.  Each 1 year rise 
in the average age at retirement would 
save roughly 5% of pension costs.  

3 2 6 ► Financial 16/01/2019

F/D2

Maturing Fund – i.e. proportion of actively 
contributing employees declines relative to retired 
employees leading to the possibility of there not 
being sufficient liquid funds available to pay 
liabilities as they fall due.

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Continue to monitor at each valuation, 
seeking monetary amounts rather than % 
of pay. Between valuations regularly 
monitor level of active members on both a 
total Fund basis and by individual 
employer. Regularly monitor how cash 
flow positive the Fund is. Regularly review 
investment strategy.

2 3 6 ► Financial

The Fund commissioned Hymans 
Robertson to undertake cash flow 
modelling based on the following three 
scenarios:
Scenario 1 – cash flows projections based 
on 2016 valuation membership data, 
Scenario 2 – cash flows projections based 
on 2016 valuation membership data, with a 
20% reduction in actives, Scenario 3  - with 
a 40% reduction in active members. This 
modelling indicated that the fund will 
remain cashflow positive until 2033 under 
scenario1, to 2026 under scenario 2 and 
would immediately become casflow 
negative under scenario 3. Given that 
active membership in the Gloucestershire 
scheme is still increasing slightly it is felt 
that scenario 1 is the most likely outcome 
for the fund.

16/01/2019

P
age 11



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

L/V I/B R L/V I/B R Period Comments / Additional Actions

All risks are 
monitored on an 
on-going basis. 

Date of last 
review.

Inherent Risk 
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk 
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Ref Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or 
Consequences  if risk occurs and 
related objectives Owner

Category of Risk 
or Opportunity

F/D3 A company admitted to the Fund as an admission 
body may become financially unviable

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

A transferee admission body will always 
have a funding guarantee from the 
transferring scheme employer. A 
community admission body will only be 
admitted to the Fund if they have a 
funding guarantee from a scheme 
employer with tax raising powers. A surety 
bond to cover the cost of paying pensions 
early if the company goes into liquidation 
is also generally required by the scheme 
employer to cover the potential risk of the 
admitted body becoming insolvent and the 
value of this surety or bond is reviewed 
regularly to ensure it provides adequate 
cover for the financial risks involved

3 3 9 ► Financial 16/01/2019

F/D4 Deteriorating patterns of early retirements
To ensure individual employers in the 
Fund are responsible for their own 
costs 

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Employers are charged the extra cost of 
non ill-health retirements following each 
individual decision.
Employer ill health retirement experience 
is monitored, and insurance is an option.

2 3 6 ► Financial 16/01/2019

F/D5 Reductions in payroll causing insufficient deficit 
recovery payments

To ensure individual employers in the 
Fund are responsible for their own 
costs 

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Require employers to pay sums due for 
deficit recovery contributions as a fixed 
monetary amount rather than being 
expressed as a % of pay.

2 3 6 ► Financial 16/01/2019

F/D6 Ill-health retirements significantly more than 
anticipated

To ensure individual employers in the 
Fund are responsible for their own 
costs 

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Monitoring of each employer’s ill-health 
experience on an ongoing basis. The 
employer may be charged additional 
contributions if this exceeds the ill-health 
assumption built in. Ill health insurance is 
available to be purchased by individual 
employers

2 3 6 ► Financial 16/01/2019

F/D7

Adverse effect on the Fund’s investment strategy 
and employer contributions if large numbers of 
active members are outsourced on a “closed” (to 
new entrants) basis

The achievement of fully funded 
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 3 3 9

Take advice from the Fund actuary on the 
likely impact this will have on Fund 
investment out performance assumptions 
and employer contributions. Monitor levels 
of outsourcings on a “closed” basis and 
advise employers of implications so these 
are taken into account when they consider 
the business case for an outsourcing. 
Regularly review investment strategy and 
strategic asset allocation.

2 3 6 ► Financial
No significant impact to date, but the risk 
will continue to be monitored on a regular 
basis.

16/01/2019

F/D8
Transfers out of the Fund into DC schemes due to 
introduction of "Freedom & Choice" resulting in a 
change in funding level

The achievement of fully funded 
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 3 3 9

Taken advice from the Fund actuary on 
the proportion of the Fund's active and 
deferred members aged 55 or over and 
the maximum exposure of the Fund to 
these transfers, split between active and 
deferred members. Considered impact on 
funding level given different possible 
levels of take up from active and deferred 
members.

2 2 4 ► Financial 16/01/2019

P
age 12



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

L/V I/B R L/V I/B R Period Comments / Additional Actions

All risks are 
monitored on an 
on-going basis. 

Date of last 
review.

Inherent Risk 
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk 
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Ref Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or 
Consequences  if risk occurs and 
related objectives Owner

Category of Risk 
or Opportunity

A/R1.1

Significant additional costs resulting from changes 
to national pension requirements and/or HMRC 
rules e.g. changes arising from public sector 
pensions reform, and/or more complex regulations 
requiring increased administration resources.

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 3 3 9

The Administering Authority considers all 
consultation papers issued by the 
Government and comments where 
appropriate. Considered different % take 
up scenarios for active and deferred 
members
The results of the most recent reforms 
have been built into the 2013 valuation.  
Any changes to member contribution 
rates or benefit levels will be carefully 
communicated with members to minimise 
possible opt-outs or adverse actions. 

2 3 6 ► Legislative & 
Regulatory

In order to effectively deal with the 
increased workload emanating from the 
new 2016 CARE scheme, additional 
pensions officers were recuited to in the 
Pension Administration Team during 2016 
as stage 1 of a review of the Pension 
Administration Team. A further four staff 
members have now been recuited in 2018 
under stage 2 of the review, to bring the 
staffing within the Pension Administration 
team up to the agreed full establishment 
funded by the budget.

16/01/2019

A/R 1.2

Under resourcing of Pension Administration staff 
resulting in a deterioration of performance against 
key performance indicators and/or intervention from 
the Pensions Regulator.

Experience indicates that intervention 
by the Pensions Regulator has major 
implications in terms of increased 
workload and/or adverse financial 
implications.

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 4 16

This risk is regularly monitored and, as 
detailed in risk A/R 1.1 actions have 
already been taken to increase the level 
of Pensions Officers in order to improve 
performance against key performance 
indicators.

3 3 9 Legislative & 
Regulatory

Although adequate actions have been 
taken to address the performance issues 
in the context of the increased 
administration burdens of the career 
average pension scheme, significant risks 
still exist in relation to fully meeting the 
standards required by the Pension 
Regulator and to deal with the increased 
complexities of things such as annual and 
lifetime allowances. To address these risks 
it is intended to implement stage 3 of the 
Pension Administration Team review 
during 2019/20. This is likely to involve an 
increase in the number of SEnior Pension 
Officers. The financial implications of these 
liekely changes will be built into the budget 
proposal for 2019/20 which will be included 
within the Business Plan submitted to the 
May 2019 meeting of the Pension 
Committee.

16/01/2019

A/R2 Failure to collect and account for contributions from 
employers and employees on time

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Regular monthly monitoring and 
reconciliation of Fund contributions 
received, including a detailed analysis of 
individual employer contributions and 
employee contributions by pay banding. 
Robust debt management processes are 
in place  to recover any late payments

2 3 6 ► Legislative & 
Regulatory 16/01/2019

A/R3 Loss of funds through fraud or misappropriation

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Procedures and processes are in place 
and applied in relation to eg: checking for 
"ghost" scheme members;  multiple levels 
of authorisation for claims and fund 
payments plus secondary checking of 
lump sum payments. Procedures are 
documented and staff are trained and 
managed in carrying these out. The 
Fund's internal auditors carry out regular 
reviews.

2 3 6 ► Fraud

The funds internal auditors regularly review 
the adequacy of controls within the 
Pensions Section. These reviews make 
use of experienced Counter Fraud staff 
who are available to the internal auditors.

16/01/2019

P
age 13



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

L/V I/B R L/V I/B R Period Comments / Additional Actions

All risks are 
monitored on an 
on-going basis. 

Date of last 
review.

Inherent Risk 
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk 
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Ref Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or 
Consequences  if risk occurs and 
related objectives Owner

Category of Risk 
or Opportunity

A/R4

Does the fund have sufficient resources to provide 
sufficient input to the development of the Brunel 
Pension Partnership in the context of the 
importance of ensuring that the partnership 
operates in an efficient and effective manner.

To ensure the fund is proactive in the 
development of the proposals and the 
robust control environment required for 
the collective management of assets, 
to avoid a detrimental impact on the 
fund. 

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 4 16

Additional staffing resources may be 
required to facilitate dedicated staffing 
resources to take forward the pooling 
proposal. This may require additional 
contributions from participating funds.

2 3 6 ► Legislative & Regu

Now that the partnership has developed to 
the establishment of the new company, 
with senior appointments being made, 
limited senior officer resources can now be 
more directed at the important client side 
roles, including looking at the adequacy of 
control systems.

16/01/2019

A/R5

Failure to undertake a full reconciliation of 
Guaranteed Minimum Pensions records held on the 
Gloucestershire LGPS Altair system with those held 
by HMRC could result in additional financial costs 
to the Gloucestershire Fund.

Additional financial costs to the Fund Head of Pension 
Fund 5 3 15

A detailed reconciliation procedure has 
commenced and a large number of 
discrepancies have been identified where 
the Gloucestershire Pension Fund is not 
liable for GMP payments held on HMRC 
records.

2 3 6 ▼ Governance

Detailed reconciliation process completed 
and results returned to HMRC which has 
resulted in a significant reduction in 
potential iabilities.

16/01/2019

G1

Administering Authority unaware of structural 
changes in an employer’s membership (e.g. large 
fall in employee members, large number of 
retirements) or not advised of an employer closing 
to new entrants

The achievement of fully funded 
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

The Administering Authority has a close 
relationship with employing bodies and 
communicates required standards e.g. for 
submission of data. 
The Actuary may revise the rates and 
Adjustments certificate to increase an 
employer’s contributions (under 
Regulation 38) between triennial 
valuations

2 3 6 ► Governance 16/01/2019

G2
Actuarial or investment advice is not sought, or is 
not heeded, or proves to be insufficient in some 
way

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

The Administering Authority maintains 
close contact with its specialist advisers.
Advice is delivered via formal meetings 
involving Elected Members, and recorded 
appropriately.
Actuarial advice is subject to professional 
requirements such as peer review

2 3 6 ► Governance 16/01/2019

G3
Administering Authority failing to commission the 
Fund Actuary to carry out a termination valuation 
for a departing Admission Body.

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

The Administering Authority requires 
employers with Best Value contractors  ( 
Transferee Admission Bodies) to inform it 
of forthcoming changes. The 
administering authority also monitors 
contract periods of Transferee Admission 
Bodies and regularly monitors levels of 
active employees across all employers 
but particularly for Community Admission 
Bodies. Where their active membership 
materially decreases further steps are 
taken.

2 3 6 ► Governance 16/01/2019

P
age 14



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

L/V I/B R L/V I/B R Period Comments / Additional Actions

All risks are 
monitored on an 
on-going basis. 

Date of last 
review.

Inherent Risk 
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk 
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Ref Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or 
Consequences  if risk occurs and 
related objectives Owner

Category of Risk 
or Opportunity

G4 An employer ceasing to exist with insufficient 
funding or adequacy of a bond.

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

The Administering Authority believes that 
it would normally be too late to address 
the position if it was left to the time of 
departure.
The risk is mitigated by:
Seeking a funding guarantee from another 
scheme employer.
Alerting the prospective employer to its 
obligations and encouraging it to take 
independent actuarial advice. 
Vetting prospective employers before 
admission.
Where permitted under the regulations 
requiring a bond to protect the Fund from 
various risks.
Requiring new Community Admission 
Bodies to have a scheme employer with 
tax raising powers as guarantor.
Reviewing bond or guarantor 
arrangements at regular intervals.
Monitoring funding levels more closely as 
approaching cessation and reviewing 
contributions well ahead of cessation if 
thought appropriate 

3 3 9 ► Governance 16/01/2019

G5 Failure to comply with the Myners’ Investment 
Principles

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Compliance as detailed in the Statement 
of Investment Principles is kept under 
regular review. 

2 3 6 ► Governance 16/01/2019

G6
Lack of relevant expertise, knowledge,skills and 
resources at officer and member level in relation to 
administering the LGPS

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Training needs assessments for the 
Administering Authority are carried out 
and an annual training plan produced. The 
Fund subscribes to the CIPFA Knowledge 
and Skills Framework for the LGPS and 
makes this information available to all 
members of the Pension Committee and 
relevant officers. Appropriately qualified 
external advisers and consultants are 
used as appropriate.

3 3 9 ▲ Governance

This risk has slightly increased with the 
departure of the previous S151 Officer who 
had accumulated significant expertise in 
this area, having had limited knowledge 
prior to her appointment. The acting S151 
officer now takes up this role and is 
already increasing his knowledge in this 
area after discussions with the Head of 
Pensions, Actuary, and Independent 
Advisor to the Fund.

16/01/2019

G7 Failure to internally hold personal data securely and 
keep pension records up-to-date and accurate

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 4 16

Personal data and scanned documents 
relating to scheme members are 
maintained in an online system with 
logical access controls via individual 
password access for those that need to 
maintain and access this information. 
Procedures for maintaining pension 
records are documented and the process 
is monitored and managed within the 
Pensions Administration team. 
Procedures are regularly reviewed by the 
Fund's internal auditors. Physical access 
controls are also in operation within the 
Pension Fund office. 

1 4 4 ► Governance 16/01/2019

P
age 15



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

L/V I/B R L/V I/B R Period Comments / Additional Actions

All risks are 
monitored on an 
on-going basis. 

Date of last 
review.

Inherent Risk 
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk 
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Ref Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or 
Consequences  if risk occurs and 
related objectives Owner

Category of Risk 
or Opportunity

G8

Loss of experience on the Pension Fund 
Committee or Pension Board, and/or the lack of 
adequate training, resulting in a negative impact on 
governance arrangements within the 
Gloucestershire LGPS.

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 3 4 12

Training is provided on an on-going basis 
to Committee and Board Members both at 
formal meetings of the Committee/Board 
and at internal and external training 
sessions.

1 4 4 ► Governance 16/01/2019

G9

Transition from the current custodian to State 
Street Bank under the Brunel Pension Partnership 
resulting in failings during the transition and/or 
inadequate performance reports post transition 
and/or negative impacts on the final accounts of the 
Pension Fund due to failings in the accounting 
reports received from State Street Bank

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 3 4 12

Detailed control procedures implemented 
during the transition with supoort from a 
transition manager working for the Brunel 
Pension Partnership

1 3 3 ▼ Governance

No major problems were encoutered 
during the transitions undertaken to date 
and assets transferred were reconciled 
back to the detailed records held by each 
manager.

16/01/2019

G10

Failure to comply with the General Data Protection 
Regulation resulting in breaches which have to be 
reported to the Pension Regulator and the 
Information Commissioners Office resulting in 
compliants from scheme members and/or 
significant financial fines. 

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 5 4 20

Detailed guidance and support is being 
obtained from the GCC Information 
Management Team which will include the 
production of an action plan to detail and 
monitor actions required to ensure 
compliance within the Gloucestershire 
LGPS.

3 4 12 ► Governance

Detailed guidance and support is being 
obtained from the GCC Information 
Management Team which will include the 
production of an action plan to detail and 
monitor actions required to ensure 
compliance within the Gloucestershire 
LGPS. 

16/01/2019

G11

Failure to protect the Pension Fund's key 
information and data as a result of exploited 
technological vulnerabilities facilitated through 
malicious attack, primarily from external sources.

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 5 4 20

Anti-malware and internet security 
software. Patch management policies and 
procedures. Compliance with PSN. 
Internal and External ICT security 
testing.Manging user privileges.

3 3 9 ► Governance 16/01/2019

P
age 16



Page 17

Agenda Item 7



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Pension Committee
8th February 2019

Statutory guidance on asset pooling in the Local Government 
Pension Scheme 

Report of the Strategic Finance Director

Report

The DCLG have issued draft guidance on asset pooling which is attached.

They are now inviting views on this draft guidance. This will be an informal 
consultation with interested parties only, including the Scheme Advisory 
Board, Pensions Committees, Local Pension Boards, the pool Joint 
Committees or equivalent, the Cross Pool Collaboration Group, the pool 
operating companies where owned by participating funds, and CIPFA. 

It is intended that a Client Group workshop will be held with representatives of 
the Brunel Pension Partnership with a view of submitting a joint response to 
this consultation.

However, all Funds are also free to consider whether they wish to submit a 
fund response to the consultation.

Recommendation

That the Committee consider whether there are any points that it wishes to 
feedback on the draft statutory guidance on asset pooling.

Contact Officer

Mark Spilsbury - Head of Pension Fund (01452 328920)

Page 23

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



 Statutory guidance on asset pooling in the Local Government Pension Scheme 

1

Local Government Pension Scheme

Statutory guidance on asset pooling

Page 25



 Statutory guidance on asset pooling in the Local Government Pension Scheme 

2

Contents

Foreword

1 Introduction 

2 Definitions

3 Structure and scale 

4 Governance

5 Transition of assets to the pool 

6 Making new investments outside the pool

7 Infrastructure investment

8 Reporting

Page 26



 Statutory guidance on asset pooling in the Local Government Pension Scheme 

3

Foreword  

The reform of investment management in the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) for 
England and Wales began in 2015 with the publication of criteria and guidance on pooling of LGPS 
assets, following extensive consultation with the sector. LGPS administering authorities responded 
by coming together in groups of their own choosing to form eight asset pools. 

Through the hard work and commitment of people across the scheme, those eight pools are now 
operational. Their scale makes them significant players at European or global level, and significant 
annual savings have already been delivered, with the pools forecasting savings of up to £2bn by 
2033. Along the way many lessons have been learnt and great progress has been made in 
developing expertise and capacity, including in private markets and infrastructure investment. 

This is a considerable achievement in itself, but there is still a long way to go to complete the 
transition of assets and to deliver the full benefits of scale. In the light of experience to date with 
pooling and the challenges ahead, authorities have requested guidance on a range of issues.  The 
time is now right for new guidance to support further progress. 

Page 27



 Statutory guidance on asset pooling in the Local Government Pension Scheme 

4

1 Introduction  

1.1 This guidance sets out the requirements on administering authorities in relation to the 
pooling of LGPS assets, building on previous Ministerial communications and guidance on 
investment strategies, and taking account of the current state of progress on pooling. It is made 
under the powers conferred on the Secretary of State by Regulation 7(1) of The Local Government 
Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016 (the 2016 
Regulations). Administering authorities are required to act in accordance with it.

1.2 This guidance replaces the section at pages 7 to 8 of Part 2 of Guidance for Preparing and 
Maintaining an Investment Strategy, issued in September 2016 and revised in July 2017, which 
deals with regulation 7(2)(d) of the 2016 Regulations. It also replaces Local Government Pension 
Scheme: Investment Reform Criteria and Guidance, issued in November 2015.

2 Definitions

2.1 This guidance introduces a set of definitions for use in this and future guidance, as follows:

‘Pool’ the entity comprising all elements of a Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) asset 
pool
‘Pool member’ an LGPS administering authority which has committed to invest in an LGPS pool 
and participates in its governance
‘Pool governance body’ the body used by pool members to oversee the operation of the pool and 
ensure that the democratic link to pool members is maintained (for example, Joint Committees and 
officer committees)
‘Pool company’ the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) regulated company which undertakes 
selection, appointment, dismissal and variation of terms of investment managers, and provides and 
operates pool vehicles for pool members
‘Pool fund’ a regulated unitised fund structure operated by a regulated pool company, such as an 
Authorised Contractual Scheme (ACS)
‘Pool vehicle’ an investment vehicle (including pool funds) made available to pool members by a 
regulated pool company
‘Pooled asset’ an investment for which the selection, appointment, dismissal and variation of 
terms for the investment manager is delegated to a regulated pool company, or an investment held 
in a pool vehicle
‘Retained asset’ an existing investment retained by a pool member during the transition period 
‘Local asset’ a new investment by a pool member which is not a pooled asset

3 Structure and scale

3.1 All administering authorities must pool their assets in order to deliver the benefits of scale 
and collaboration. These include:
 reduced investment costs without affecting gross risk-adjusted returns
 reduced costs for services such as custody, and for procurement
 strengthened governance and stewardship and dissemination of good practice
 greater investment management capacity and capability in the pool companies, including in 

private markets
 increased  transparency on total investment management costs
 diversification of risk through providing access to a wider range of asset classes, including 

infrastructure investments

3.2 In order to maximise the benefits of scale, pool members must appoint a pool company or 
companies to implement their investment strategies.  This includes:

 the selection, appointment, dismissal and variation of terms of investment managers, 
whether internal or external

Page 28



 Statutory guidance on asset pooling in the Local Government Pension Scheme 

5

 the management of internally managed investments
 the provision and management of pool vehicles including pool funds

It is for the pool companies to decide which investment managers to use for pool vehicles, 
including whether to use in-house or external management. Pool members may continue to decide 
if they wish to invest via in-house or externally managed vehicles.

3.3 Pool companies may be wholly owned by pool members as shareholders or may be 
procured and appointed by the pool members as clients. 

3.4 A pool company must be a company regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) 
with appropriate FCA permissions for regulated activities. This helps ensure the pools comply with 
financial services legislation, and provides additional assurance to scheme members and 
employers. Depending on the structure of the pool, appropriate permissions may include 
permissions for execution, acting as agent, provision of advice, or such other permissions as 
required by the FCA. Where regulated funds (e.g. in an ACS) are operated by the pool company it 
should comply with relevant UK legislation.

Regular review of services and procurement
3.5 Pool governance bodies, working with the pool company, should regularly review the 
provision of services to the pool, and the process of procurement, to ensure value for money and 
cost transparency. Where services are procured or shared by pool members, pool members 
should regularly review the rationale and cost-effectiveness of such arrangements, compared to 
procurement and management through the pool company. Pool members and pool companies 
should consider using the national LGPS procurement frameworks 
(www.nationallgpsframeworks.org) where appropriate.

Regular review of active and passive management
3.6 Pool members, working with the pool company, should regularly review the balance 
between active and passive management in the light of performance net of total costs. They 
should consider moving from active to passive management where active management has not 
generated better net performance over a reasonable period. Pool members should also seek to 
ensure performance by asset class net of total costs is at least comparable with market 
performance for similar risk profiles.

4 Governance

4.1 Pool members must establish and maintain a pool governance body in order to set the 
direction of the pool and to hold the pool company to account. Pool governance bodies should be 
appropriately democratic and sufficiently resourced to provide for effective decision making and 
oversight.

4.2 Pool members, through their internal governance structures, are responsible for effective 
governance and for holding pool companies and other service providers to account. Strategic 
asset allocation remains the responsibility of pool members, recognising their authority’s specific 
liability and cash-flow forecasts.

4.3 Members of Pension Committees are elected representatives with duties both to LGPS 
employers and members, and to local taxpayers. Those who serve on Pension Committees and 
equivalent governance bodies in LGPS administering authorities are, in many ways, required to act 
in the same way as trustees in terms of their duty of care to scheme employers and members, but 
are subject to a different legal framework, which derives from public law. In particular while they 
have legal responsibilities for the prudent and effective stewardship of LGPS funds, LGPS benefits 
are not dependent on their stewardship but are established and paid under statute in force at the 
time.

Page 29

http://www.nationallgpsframeworks.org/


 Statutory guidance on asset pooling in the Local Government Pension Scheme 

6

4.4 Those who serve on Pension Committees and equivalent governance bodies in pool 
members should therefore take a long term view of pooling implementation and costs. They should 
take account of the benefits across the pool and across the scheme as a whole, in the interests of 
scheme members, employers and local taxpayers, and should not seek simply to minimise costs in 
the short term.   

4.5 Local Pension Boards of pool members have a key role in pool governance, given their 
responsibilities under the LGPS Regulations 2013 (regulation 106 (1)) for assisting authorities in 
securing compliance with legislation, and ensuring effective and efficient governance and 
administration of the LGPS. They can provide additional scrutiny and challenge to strengthen pool 
governance and reporting, and improve transparency and accountability for both members and 
employers.

4.6 Local Pension Boards may also provide a group of knowledgeable and experienced people 
from which observers may be drawn if pool members wish to include observers on pool 
governance bodies.

Strategic and tactical asset allocation
4.7 Pool members are responsible for deciding their investment strategy and asset allocation, 
and remain the beneficial owners of their assets, in accordance with Guidance for Preparing and   
Maintaining an Investment Strategy.

4.8 Pool members collectively through their pool governance bodies should decide the pool’s 
policy on which aspects of asset allocation are strategic and should remain with the administering 
authority, and which are tactical and best undertaken by the pool company. Pool governance 
bodies, when determining where such decisions lie, should be mindful of the trade-off between 
greater choice and lower costs and should involve the pool company to ensure the debate is fully 
informed on the opportunities and efficiencies available through greater scale.

4.9 Providing pool members with asset allocation choices through an excessively wide range of 
pool vehicles or investment managers will restrict the pool company’s ability to use scale to drive 
up value. On the other hand maximising scale by significantly limiting asset allocation options may 
not provide all pool members with the diversification needed to meet their particular liability profile 
and cash flow requirements. Pool members should set out in their Funding Strategy Statement and 
Investment Strategy Statement how they, through the pool governance body, have balanced these 
considerations and how they will keep this under regular review.

4.10 Where necessary to deliver the asset allocation required by pool members, pool companies 
may provide a range of pool vehicles and in addition arrange and manage segregated mandates or 
access to external specialist funds. Pool governance bodies should ensure that their regulated 
pool companies have in place the necessary permissions to enable pool vehicles to be made 
available where appropriate.

4.11 Determining where asset allocation decisions lie will not be a one-off decision as pool 
member requirements will change over time. Pool governance bodies should ensure that a regular 
review process, which involves both pool members and pool companies, is in place.

5 Transition of assets to the pool

5.1 Pool members should transition existing assets into the pool as quickly and cost effectively 
as possible. Transition of listed assets should take place over a relatively short period.

5.2 Pool governance bodies, working with pool companies and, where appointed, external 
transition managers, should seek to minimise transition costs to pool members while effectively 
balancing speed, cost and timing, taking into account exit or penalty costs and opportunities for 
crossing trades.

Page 30



 Statutory guidance on asset pooling in the Local Government Pension Scheme 

7

5.2 The transition process will incur direct or indirect costs which may fall unevenly across pool 
members.  For example, where the selected managers are used by some pool members but not 
others.  In such cases pool members who are already using the selected manager may incur 
significantly lower (if any) transition costs than those who do not.

5.3 Inter-authority payments (or other transfers of value) may be desirable in order to share 
these costs equitably between pool members. The Government’s view is that such payments are 
investment costs within Regulation 4(5) of the 2016 Regulations, and payments made by a pool 
member to meet its agreed share of costs may be charged to the fund of that pool member, 
whether the payments are made to other pool members, the pool company, or another body by 
agreement.

Temporary retention of existing assets
5.4 In exceptional cases, some existing investments may be retained by pool members on a 
temporary basis. If the cost of moving the existing investment to a pool vehicle exceeds the 
benefits of doing so, it may be appropriate to continue to hold and manage the existing investment 
to maturity before reinvesting the funds through a pool vehicle.

5.5 In many cases there will be benefits in such retained assets being managed by the pool 
company in the interim.  However pool members may retain the management of existing long term 
investment contracts where the penalty for early exit or transfer of management would be 
significant. These may include life insurance contracts (‘life funds’) accessed by pool members for 
the purpose of passive equity investment, and some infrastructure investments. Pool members 
may also retain existing direct property assets where these may be more effectively managed by 
pool members.

Regular review of retained assets
5.6 Pool members, working with the pool company, should undertake regular reviews (at least 
every three years) of retained assets and the rationale for keeping these assets outside the pool. 
They should review whether management by the pool company would deliver benefits. Pool 
members should consider the long term costs and benefits across the pool, taking account of the 
guidance on cost-sharing, and the presumption should be in favour of transition to pool vehicles or 
moving such assets to the management of the pool company.

6 Making new investments outside the pool

6.1 Pool members should normally make all new investments through the pool company in 
order to maximise the benefits of scale. Following the 2019 valuation, pool members will review 
their investment strategies and put revised strategies in place from 2020. From 2020, when new 
investment strategies are in place, pool members should make new investments outside the pool 
only in very limited circumstances.
 
6.2 A small proportion of a pool member’s assets may be invested in local initiatives within the 
geographical area of the pool member or in products tailored to particular liabilities specific to that 
pool member. Local assets should:

 Not normally exceed an aggregate 5% of the value of the pool member’s assets at the point 
of investment.

 Be subject to a similar assessment of risk, return and fit with investment strategy as any 
other investment. 

6.3 Pool members may invest through pool vehicles in a pool other than their own where 
collaboration across pools or specialisation by pools can deliver improved net returns.

Page 31



 Statutory guidance on asset pooling in the Local Government Pension Scheme 

8

6.4 During the period of transition, while pool governance bodies and pool companies work 
together to determine and put in place the agreed range of pool vehicles, a pool member may 
make new investments outside the pool, if following consultation with the pool company, they 
consider this is essential to deliver their investment strategy. This exemption only applies until the 
pool vehicles needed to provide the agreed asset allocation are in place.

7 Infrastructure investment

7.1 Infrastructure investment has the potential to provide secure long term returns with a good 
fit to pension liabilities, and form part of investment strategies of authorities. The establishment of 
the pools was intended to provide the scale needed for cost-effective investment in infrastructure, 
and to increase capacity and capability to invest in infrastructure.

7.2 There is no target for infrastructure investment for pool members or pools, but pool 
members are expected to set an ambition on investment in this area. Pool companies may provide 
pool vehicles for investment in UK assets, or overseas assets, or both, as required to provide the 
risk and return profile to meet pool member investment strategies. However the Government 
expects pool companies to provide the capability and capacity for pools over time to move towards 
levels of infrastructure investment similar to overseas pension funds of comparable aggregate size.

7.3 Pool companies may provide pool vehicles for investment in existing (brownfield) or new 
(greenfield) infrastructure, based on an assessment of the benefits and risks in relation to pool 
member liabilities, and non-financial factors where relevant. Pool members may invest in their own 
geographic areas but the asset selection and allocation decisions should normally be taken by the 
pool company in order to manage any potential conflicts of interest effectively, maintain propriety, 
and ensure robust evaluation of the case for investment. 
7.4 For the purpose of producing annual reports, infrastructure assets are defined in the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) guidance Preparing the Annual 
Report as follows:

Infrastructure assets are the facilities and structures needed for the functioning of communities and 
to support economic development. When considered as an investment asset class, infrastructure 
investments are normally expected to have most of the following characteristics:
• Substantially backed by durable physical assets;
• Long life and low risk of obsolescence;
• Identifiable and reliable cash flow, preferably either explicitly or implicitly inflation-linked;
• Revenues largely isolated from the business cycle and competition, for example, through 
long term contracts, regulated monopolies or high barriers to entry;
• Returns to show limited correlation to other asset classes.

Key sectors for infrastructure include transportation networks, power generation, energy 
distribution and storage, water supply and distribution, communications networks, health and 
education facilities, social accommodation and private sector housing.

Conventional commercial property is not normally included, but where it forms part of a broader 
infrastructure asset, helps urban regeneration or serves societal needs it may be.

7.5 All residential property is included in this definition of infrastructure. It is not restricted to 
social accommodation or private sector housing.
 
7.6 A variety of platforms may be required to implement the infrastructure investment strategies 
of pool members.  Pool companies are expected to provide access to a range of options over time 
including direct and co-investment opportunities.

8 Reporting

Page 32



 Statutory guidance on asset pooling in the Local Government Pension Scheme 

9

8.1 Pool members are required to report total investment costs and performance against 
benchmarks publicly and transparently in their annual reports, following the CIPFA guidance 
Preparing the Annual Report, with effect from the 2018-19 report.

8.2 In summary, pool member annual reports should include:

 opening and closing value and proportion of pooled assets by asset class
 opening and closing value and proportion of local assets by asset class
 net and gross performance of pooled assets by asset class
 total costs of pooled assets by asset class 
 for actively managed listed assets, net performance by asset class net of total costs 

compared to appropriate passive indices over a one, three and five year period 
 net and gross performance of local assets by asset class 
 total costs of local assets by asset class 
 asset transition during the reporting year 
 transition plans for local assets
 pool set-up and transition costs, presented alongside in-year and cumulative savings from 

pooling
 ongoing investment management costs by type, with a breakdown between pooled assets 

and local assets

8.3 Investments should be classed as pool assets on the basis of the definition in the CIPFA 
guidance Preparing the Annual Report.

For the purpose of defining those assets which are classed as being within an asset pool, ‘pooled 
assets’ are those for which implementation of the investment strategy – i.e. the selection, 
appointment, dismissal and variation of terms for the investment managers (including internal 
managers) – has been contractually, transferred to a third party out with the individual pension 
fund’s control.

8.4 Any investment where a pool member retains the day to day management, or the 
responsibility for selecting or reappointing an external manager, is not a pool asset.

8.5 Pool members should provide a rationale for all assets continuing to be held outside the 
pool, including the planned end date and performance net of costs including a comparison which 
costs of any comparable pool vehicles. They should also set out a high level plan for transition of 
assets.

8.6 The SAB will publish an annual report on the pools based on aggregated data from the pool 
member annual reports, in the Scheme Annual Report. Pool members should comply with all 
reasonable requests for any additional data and information from the SAB to enable it to publish a 
comprehensive report.

8.7 Pool members should ensure that pool companies report in line with the SAB Code of Cost 
Transparency. They should also ensure that pool companies require their internal and external 
investment managers to do so.

8.8 Pool members should also ensure that the annual report of the pool company is broadly 
consistent with the reports of pool members, and with the Scheme Annual Report, in so far as it 
relates to their investments, and that the report includes a narrative to explain differences. These 
may arise for example from reporting periods of pool companies which differ from that of the pool 
member.

8.9 Pool members are required to report any change which results in failure to meet the 
requirements of this guidance to the LGPS Scheme Advisory Board (SAB) and to MHCLG.

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 35

Agenda Item 9



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund

Performance Report - Q4 to 31st December 2018

Performance by Manager vs Benchmark and Performance Target

Market Value 

30.09.18

Market Value 

31.12.18

Manager Mandate £000's £000's
Actual 

Performance %
Benchmark %

Actual 

Performance %

Benchmark 

%

Actual 

Performance %

Benchmark 

%

Actual 

Performance %
Benchmark %

Aberdeen Standard UK Equity* 419,827         -                 -8.3 -10.5 -8.8 -9.6 3.5 5.2 6.0 6.4

Aberdeen Standard - GARS Global Absolute Return 76,669           75,219          -2.0 1.5 -5.5 6.0 -1.5 5.7 2.3 5.7

Blackrock Emerging Markets Emerging Markets Passive 140,162         132,891        -5.2 -5.3 -9.4 -9.3 15.4 14.7 6.5 6.2

Blackrock Global Global Equities 492,148         431,158        -12.4 -10.7 -5.9 -3.8 12.3 11.9 9.4 8.9

Brunel - Fundrock UK Active Equity** -                  333,557        N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A -3.3 -3.1

Brunel PP - LGIM Low Carbon Equities*** 51,915           46,080          -11.2 -11.2 N/A N/A N/A N/A -8.2 -8.1

Brunel PP - LGIM Passive Developed Equities (Unhdg)*** 130,743         116,104        -11.2 -11.2 N/A N/A N/A N/A -8.1 -8.1

Brunel PP - LGIM Passive Developed Equities (Hdg)*** 128,779         111,531        -13.4 -13.4 N/A N/A N/A N/A -11.2 -11.1

Brunel PP - LGIM Smart Beta*** 219,163         199,606        -8.9 -8.8 N/A N/A N/A N/A -7.2 -7.0

WAMCO Global Fixed Interest 302,509         329,793        -0.4 1.2 -3.2 -0.7 5.8 6.2 6.0 6.5

WAMCO GMS Global Multi Strategy FI 176,795         174,932        -1.1 0.7 -5.5 2.8 4.2 2.5 2.9 2.6

Hermes UK Property 138,327         139,735        1.0 1.3 8.1 7.4 8.5 7.2 6.9 5.2

CBREI - GMM Global Property 60,100           60,995          1.5 1.1 8.7 7.0 6.7 7.3 9.2 8.6

Golub Private Debt 11,503           11,778          4.9 1.5 17.5 5.8 N/A N/A 11.1 5.7

Blue Bay Private Debt 14,800           18,286          4.2 1.5 7.5 5.8 N/A N/A 7.5 5.7

Yorkshire Fund Managers/TVP Venture Capital 5,584              4,863             -13.5 N/A -7.1 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Brunel - PM Private Equity/Infrastructure -                  -                 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

In-house Cash Cash 4,978              8,941             N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Fund Manager Cash Cash 38                   3,206             N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Gloucestershire CC Total 2,374,040      2,198,675     -7.3 -5.8 -5.0 -2.2 8.0 9.1 7.2 7.8

* Performance to 20/11/2018 (transition of assets to Brunel PP UK active equity mandate)

** Performance available from 21/11/2018 - 31/12/2018 (Brunel UK active equity mandate)

*** Performance available from 11/07/2018 - 31/12/2018 (Brunel passive equity mandate)

3 Years to 31-Dec-18 

Annualised Return

1 Year to 31-Dec-18 Total 

Return

3 Months to 31-Dec-18 Total 

Return

Since Inception to 31-Dec-18 

Annualised Return

P
age 49



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 51

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3, 7a of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 63

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3, 7a of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 67

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3, 7a of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 79

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3, 7a of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 81

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3, 7a of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 89

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3, 7a of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 91

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3, 7a of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 105

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3, 7a of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes -
	6 Pension Fund Risk Register
	Risk Register for February 2019 Pension Committee v2

	7 Award of Actuarial Contract
	8 Consultation on Statutory Guidance on asset pooling in the Local Government Pension Scheme
	Draft guidance on pooling - consultation

	9 Market Valuations and Quarterly Performance Review of the Pension Fund: Quarter 4
	Performance Report - Q4 Summary to 31 December 2018

	11 Exempt Minutes
	Nov 18 action sheet

	12 Report from the Independent Advisor to the Fund
	13 Admission Body Requests
	14 Employers Update
	15 Brunel Pension Partnership Update Report
	Brunel Update attachment 1
	Brunel Update attachment 2


